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The company’s performance exceeded 
all expectations, with every business 
group performing well above target 
and above the previous year. Turnover 
rose by 17 per cent to £388 million and 
profit before tax increased from £12.0 
million to £28.9 million for the year. 

We underlined our global ambitions by 
securing 50 per cent of our work outside 
of the UK. This was driven by outstanding 
performances in the Middle East, which was 
responsible for over £90.0 million of work 
won, and North America, which achieved 
over £45.0 million of new business.

The company’s cash position improved 
immeasurably during 2007. Project capital 
was significantly reduced and the company 
ended the year with low net borrowings.

Business
 highlights
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Group board

Group board 

Standing left to right

Alan Saffer – group finance director 
BA   FCA   CPA

Tony Pryor CBE – non-executive chairman 
BA   FICE   PEng   MInstRE

Ken Mair – company secretary 
FCIS   ACII

Les Buck – group board director 
BSc   CEng   FICE   FIHT   PE

Sitting left to right

David Kerr – group board director 
BSc   CEng   FICE   MIHT

Neil Holt – group board director 
FCIB

Peter Gammie – chief executive 
BA   FCA

John Theakston – non-executive director 
BSc   CEng   FICE   MIHT
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The company’s performance exceeded all expectations, with record profit, a strengthened 
balance sheet, strong cash flow and a record order book. Employee numbers also grew over 

the year, ending up at over 7,500, an increase of 16 per cent on the previous year. This is 
covered in more detail in the chief executive’s report.

The board, together with the Halcrow Trust, continues to encourage employees to 
become shareholders in our company. The launch of a share incentive plan, currently 
available to employees in the UK and the UAE, which enables people to invest on 
a monthly basis in a tax-efficient manner, has helped to increase the number of 

shareholders. Our regular internal markets have also seen strong demand for shares 
and have raised total employee shareholding to over 30 per cent. This was an increase 

of nearly 5 per cent from the year before, well on the way 
to reaching our 2010 target of 35 per cent. We continue 
to receive awards for our schemes to encourage share 
ownership, and won an ifs/ProShare award for best  
overall performance for fostering employee share 
ownership in 2007.

During growth periods, it is important for the company 
to take additional measures to ensure that its health 
and safety performance continues to receive the highest 
attention. The health and safety team has introduced 
a global framework, including baseline good-practice 
standards for all offices, business groups and regions to 
ensure all employees worldwide, as well as people affected 
by our business, receive consistent protection and guidance. 
We participate in industry initiatives to enhance awareness 
of the importance of health and safety in our industry, 
supporting, for example, the Build Safe Dubai initiative. We 
have received a number of awards for our health and safety 
approach, including recent awards from the UK’s Royal 
Society for the Prevention of Accidents.

Having joined the company mid-year,  
I am delighted to report that 2007 has 
been a year of unprecedented growth for 
Halcrow, which not only significantly 
exceeded its own targets but also laid strong 
foundations for the coming years. 2007 
was, quite simply, a tremendous year for us.

Chairman’s 
 statement
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Halcrow lives by its purpose of sustaining and improving the quality of people’s lives, not just 
through its business activities but also through the Halcrow Foundation, a registered charity 
set up in 2005. This year, I am pleased to report that the company has doubled its funding to 
the foundation to 1 per cent of pre-tax annual profit, enabling it to support even more projects 
across the world. We continue to place great importance on behaving in an ethical manner 
and, with the oversight from our integrity and audit sub-committees, we have strengthened our 
policies and processes to ensure there is continued compliance throughout our operations.

A difficult decision was taken during the year to close our UK final-salary pension schemes to 
future accrual. Having agreed with the trustees the level of funding required to eliminate the 
deficits for past benefits, the board reviewed the risks and potential liabilities and considered 
it would be necessary to close the schemes to future accrual. This was done at the year end 
following full consultation with the employees affected and having introduced some measures 
to mitigate the adverse impact on expected future pensions.

During the latter part of 2007, we restructured the board of directors to create a team 
comprising a non-executive chairman, a chief executive, a non-executive director, a finance 
director, and three other executive directors with specific company-wide responsibilities. 
Terms of reference for the group board and its sub-committees were reviewed and modified as 
necessary, and an audit sub-committee, chaired by our non-executive director, was created. 

Moving forward, Halcrow retains its internal structure of five business groups across seven 
regions. But greater responsibility, or empowerment, is being devolved to regionally based 
leaders throughout 2008. This will make each region more effective at mastering, and being 
held accountable for, its own, and the company’s, broader ambitions. 2007 also saw the start 
of a strategic review of Halcrow’s worldwide business. This review will focus on those markets 
in which we choose to do business and the range of services we choose to offer. The results of 
this exercise will flow through in 2008.

I should like to pay tribute to all our employees, wherever they work around the world. It is 
only with their efforts and dedication that the company can achieve its success. In particular, 
I would like to mention Tony Allum and Chris Fleming, 
who retired as executive chairman and group board 
director respectively during the year and whose efforts 
contributed so greatly to our results. I wish them both 
the very best in their retirement. The achievements 
of 2007, and record-breaking profit, demonstrate the 
commitment of Halcrow people to the company, its 
clients and the communities in which we work.

Halcrow entered the new year in great shape, with a 
record pipeline of work, and with the majority of its 
markets buoyant. With a successful year behind us and 
a refreshed strategy moving forward, Halcrow is set to 
take its business to the next level.

I look forward to 2008 with confidence.

Tony Pryor CBE
Chairman

Chairman’s statement

The achievements of 2007, and record-breaking  
profit, demonstrate the commitment of 
Halcrow people to the company, its clients 
and the communities in which we work
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The company’s performance exceeded all expectations, with profit before tax more than 
doubling that of the previous year. Every business group performed well above target and 
improved on the previous year. We also saw the success of our investment in business 
improvement, with better project margins, tighter overhead control, improved cash flow and 
improved bid success.

Employee numbers expanded throughout Halcrow. By the end of the year, we had over 7,500 
employees, a 16 per cent rise from 2006. Numbers in the Middle East exceeded 1,500, and in 

North America, 500; both records for the company. 

We also exceeded our work-winning goal by over £50.0 million, and underlined our 
global ambitions by hitting the target of securing 50 per cent of work outside our UK 
markets. This was driven by outstanding performances in the Middle East, which was 
responsible for over £90.0 million of work won, and North America, which secured in 

excess of £45.0 million of new business. This has enabled us to enter 2008 with a record 
pipeline of business.

The company’s cash position improved immeasurably 
during 2007. Project capital was significantly reduced and 
the company ended the year with low net borrowings, after 
taking into account all of its cash balances. The whole 
company will reap the rewards of this in lower interest 
costs in 2008.

The improved results achieved over the past year are a 
direct result of a number of factors. Key among these was 
an impressive expansion of our business across the world, 
and the fruition of a number of core strategic initiatives 
intelligently implemented through 2007. 

These initiatives arose from the increasing commitment of 
every part of our business to achieve operational excellence 
– to improve efficiency and effectiveness. This means 
consistently delivering outstanding products and services to 
our clients,  
while relentlessly improving quality in ever-more cost-
effective ways. 

I’m pleased to report record profit before 
tax of £28.9 million for the year compared 
to £12.0 million in 2006, with turnover 
up by 17 per cent to £388 million.

Chief executive’s 
 report
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A revised focus at the end of 2006 ensured our internal business improvement programmes 
were reviewed and updated so their benefits could be measured against targets during 2007. 
This allowed us to channel internal investment more effectively and align it to Halcrow’s core 
business objectives to ensure maximum value. 

Among the company-wide initiatives of 2007 was the revamping and renaming of the 
best-practice guidance manual for all areas of the business. The new Halcrow integrated 
management system is more concise and user friendly, allowing employees to more efficiently 
meet project management needs.

Cordis – a £1.0 million people management system – was introduced. Not only has it improved 
the efficiency of many core HR processes, but it has contributed significantly to an impressive 
£500,000 saving on recruitment costs.

Meanwhile, Halcrow’s change programme Act now! delivered significant results in the UK. 
The first offices to undertake its business improvement challenge, Bristol, Crawley and 
Exeter successfully delivered on-target savings of over £300,000 between them. Swindon and 
Worcester joined later in the year, followed by Edinburgh early in 2008. All three are already 
seeing significant progress. Six more offices are set to sign up soon.

The bid improvement programme, launched in the UK, saw the success rate of tenders rocket 
to 65 per cent – against just 20 per cent for those not using this approach. Among the 2007 
successes that have undergone the rigours of the process were the multi-award-winning 
Tottenham Court Road London Underground upgrade project, and the Welsh Assembly 
Government Framework. The programme is now being rolled out across our operations in  
the Middle East and North America.

Improvements to Halcrow’s project commission and management capabilities continued 
through the Project Excellence programme. With a new, dedicated manager, focus areas 
for 2007 were best practice, mentoring and training. Worldwide, over 200 project directors 
joined the programme. A best-practice website was launched, and a risk management course 
introduced. As part of this knowledge-sharing drive, over 1,000 people were part of the 
mentoring scheme by the end of 2007. 

Following Halcrow’s successful UK research and development tax credit submission to  
HM Revenue and Customs in 2006, an innovation fund to encourage bold thinking that delivers 
novel products and services was established in 2007. Several technologically innovative 
projects have already benefited from the scheme.

Since 2001’s Facing the Future restructuring initiative, the company has seen its workforce 
expand from 3,000 to over 7,500. A core challenge for 2007 was to develop a strategy to 
manage this robust growth.

A new group development director has been tasked with 
shaping and implementing a plan for Halcrow’s ongoing 
evolution. This involves targeting large-scale iconic 
projects and world-class clients to enhance Halcrow’s 
competitive position. 2008 will herald the company 
embarking on a three-year mission to transform major 
projects into a third of its global income stream. 

Other key initiatives in the pipeline include a forward-
thinking talent management programme to identify 
future leaders for the business. Meanwhile, Halcrow’s 
commitment to sustainability will intensify. A director 
will be appointed to champion the drive to harness 
Halcrow’s capabilities and experience in this area. 
Additionally, a technical excellence programme, to 
enhance Halcrow’s technological capabilities and 
leadership, is being developed.

Chief executive’s report

Window detail from 
the Grand Mosque, 

Abu Dhabi, UAE
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Chief executive’s report
As mentioned in the chairman’s statement, at the end of the year, we closed to future accrual 
our UK final-salary pension schemes, which created a credit to the profit and loss account of 
£5.1 million. This is a one-off gain resulting from technical accounting provisions. The closure 
was a difficult decision to take, and as chief executive I took on the personal responsibility of 
explaining to employees, at face-to-face meetings, why we had taken this decision. Dozens of 
meetings were held around the UK, as well as several overseas locations where employees 
were on secondment. Feedback from employees was sought and this was taken into account 
when we finalised the decision, allowing us to create a package of mitigation measures. I 
believe that we will be stronger as a company having taken this very difficult step.

Our business groups
Consulting – The consulting business group had a year of extraordinary achievement. 
Business group profit (profit before tax, bonus and pension adjustments) increased by more 
than 50 per cent, from the 2006 total of £2.2 million to £3.4 million, and turnover grew by  
13 per cent, from £31.8 million to £36.0 million. Meanwhile, employee numbers leaped from 
605 at the start of 2006 to 750 by December 2007, a rise of nearly 25 per cent.

In response to company strategy, the business group continued to focus on performance 
improvement, with great success. External assessment against the Business Excellence 
Model brought a four-star certificate for excellence from the British Quality Foundation.

Halcrow’s ongoing commitment to sustainability was highlighted by the appointment to this 
team of a director of sustainable development, Mark Browning, who will lead multi-disciplinary 
projects in this field.

The team continued to expand its operations in the Middle East, Romania and North America, 
with an increased presence in the UAE of over 70 employees, and a new economics team 
established in New York.

Major projects undertaken during the year include environmental remediation of the southern 
half of the London Olympics stadium site and an analysis of state transportation assets for a 
possible PPP procurement programme in New Jersey, US. Transport planning expertise and 
support was also provided to Glasgow’s successful bid for the 2014 Commonwealth Games.

Elsewhere, the consulting team retained major multi-disciplinary frameworks with key 
clients the Welsh Assembly Government and English 
Partnerships in the UK. 

Significant new commissions include a technical audit 
on the Indiana Toll Road in the US, providing both 
asset management and traffic and revenue advice to 
the road’s owner. The team also conducted economic 
research into road-equivalent tariffs for ferry services 
on behalf of the Scottish Government, and a transport 
planning framework with the London Borough of 
Richmond upon Thames.

Maritime – Only three years old, the maritime 
business group continues its successful development, 
with some excellent results to report. The team, now 
among the world’s largest practices working in this 
sector, outstripped its success of 2006, with continued 
consolidation and improvement to business operations 
throughout the year. These efforts came to fruition 

Santiago Metro,  
Chile, 
South America
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Chief executive’s report
with a 2007 business group profit of £2.1 million, a total 
which was not only £1.0 million ahead of budget but 
more than double the previous year’s result. 

Halcrow has increased its global presence in the 
maritime sector by focusing on global clients such as 
Dubai Ports World and Hutchison Port Holdings in the 
containers sector, and Exxon Mobil and Shell in the 
energy sector. These two markets now account for 
nearly 50 per cent of business group turnover, growth 
that is expected to continue in coming years.

The Middle East remains the most active region for the 
maritime business. Significant projects won in 2007 
include Khalifa Port in Abu Dhabi, Shell’s liquefied 
natural gas terminal in Dubai, and the King Abdullah 
Economic City and Tusdeer Container Port, both of 
which are in Saudi Arabia.

In the US, successful efforts have been made to increase business on the west coast. The team 
has laid the groundwork to conduct audits of California’s marine oil terminals and then design 
state legislation-compliant improvements. Its seismic design, inspection and repair expertise 
won £2.5 million of business over 2007, with an equally positive outlook for 2008. 

In the Los Angeles district, the year also delivered a much sought-after first contract with the 
US Army Corps of Engineers, the body responsible for flood defences across the country. This 
opens the door to opportunities in other corps districts in California. 

The UK team’s largest project of 2007 has been the design work done at Rosyth Royal Dock 
Yard, for new facilities for the Royal Navy’s new aircraft carrier project.

In the course of the year, the maritime business group has opened two new US offices. These 
are in Norfolk, Virginia, to deliver US Navy work, and in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, to service the 
flood defence work in that region following Hurricane Katrina in 2005.

Property – Property business group celebrated its sixth anniversary in 2007. From 
challenging beginnings, this sector has flourished and promises to exceed the company’s 2010 
target two years ahead of schedule. 

The team now provides a breadth of specialist skills and, due to its growth, a geographical 
reach that is attracting some exciting clients. It also now has Halcrow’s first non-UK-based 
managing director of a business group, who is based in Toronto.

A 2007 turnover of £66.0 million, a significant increase from the £48.0 million achieved in 2006, 
made it an extra-special year. This was crowned by an excellent year-end business group profit 
of £4.5 million, compared to the £2.5 million of the previous year. Within this result, highlights 
include substantial business group profit growth in the UK, almost eightfold, to £1.4 million, 
while North America raised its 2006 business group profit of £2.0 million to £3.4 million.

These increases were reflected by the business group’s expansion from 650 people to 
770 during the year. This also includes new offices in Calgary, Canada, where employee 

Chief executive’s report

Halcrow has increased its global presence in the 
maritime sector by focusing on global clients

Dames Point 
container terminal,  

Florida, US
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numbers almost doubled, and Mumbai, India, which 
demonstrates its potential for growth.

Operations in the UAE continued to grow rapidly in 2007. 
The regional team expanded, thanks to its established 
base of key clients and strong relationships with leading 
architectural practices. Its portfolio includes major 
projects in Dubai, Abu Dhabi and Ras al Khaimah.

Major property project wins for the year include the 
Vertical City in Dubai and the MGM CityCenter in Las 
Vegas. Also secured were the King Abdullah University 
of Science and Technology project in Saudi Arabia and 
the Oqyana development in Dubai, both of which will be 
delivered from the Toronto office, working with  
HOK Architects.

Transportation – The multi-award-winning, 
milestone High Speed 1 project, delivered on time and 

on budget in 2007, is a high-profile example of the multi-disciplinary capability within the 
transportation business group. 

High Speed 1, the UK’s first high-speed railway for over 100 years, was opened in London 
by the Queen, attracting global attention. It was hailed by industry and government as a 
magnificent engineering achievement and a beacon of technical excellence. It went on to 
win the title of Project of the Decade at the London Transport Awards. As part of the Rail 
Link Engineering consortium, Halcrow has been instrumental in the design and project 
management of the UK portion of this 300kph railway linking London to the European high-
speed network.

Further proof of the transportation business group’s strength is easy to find in a year of 
significant growth and success. The team achieved a business group profit of £11.2 million in 
2007, a 44.5 per cent rise on the previous year. 

There was also significant organic growth, with employee numbers rising to 1,825, a  
12.7 per cent increase from 2006. In particular, the Middle East team grew by over 50 per cent 
to approximately 470 people. 

The highways business had an excellent year, built on major projects. These include work on 
the UK’s Thames Gateway Bridge in east London, the N8 Cashel to Michelstown motorway in 
Ireland, and the development of Yas Island in the UAE, set to host the Abu Dhabi Formula One 
Grand Prix from 2009.

The success of the Aone+ highway network operations business, Halcrow’s joint arrangement 
with Colas and Costain, continued in 2007. Its annual turnover increased to £90.0 million, 
when a five-year infrastructure contract to manage the strategic road network in the north 
west of England was secured. This followed a three-year extension to a similar long-term 
contract with Colas to manage the strategic road network in the north east of England. Aone+ 
is now in a prime position to pursue three further contract opportunities with the Highways 
Agency in 2008. 

Halcrow’s increasing emphasis on large and complex transportation work is evident in the 
multi-award-winning Tottenham Road Court station project for Transport for London. It marks 
the latest in a string of London-wide successes that show the team delivering a full spectrum 
of multi-disciplinary rail and underground design service skills. A 75-strong team will deliver 
an exceptionally complex brief that will see this major station grow to six times its present size.

Chief executive’s report

Medway river 
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Elsewhere, Halcrow won its third accolade in six years from the UK’s Rail Business Awards 
for the Halcrow-developed Harlequin management and revenue information system by Virgin 
Trains. It was the only consultant business to be short-listed in any category.

Regional development within the business has won the E65 Gdansk corridor upgrade project in 
Poland, and the second stage of the New South Wales trains PPP project in Australia. 

Halcrow has strengthened its Australian transportation team with a series of senior 
appointments across its portfolio. The aim is to grow its transport planning business in the 
Sydney, Melbourne and Queensland markets.

The US region’s transportation business group won a Virginia Department of Transport 
contract, with the potential for £1.5 million in earnings over two years, and beyond.

Other successes include the Docklands Light Railway Woolwich extension, for a PPP 
infrastructure project, delivered on time and to budget, and the completion of Halcrow’s 
project management role for Irish Rail’s new intercity fleet.

Water and power – The water and power business group enjoyed great success in 2007. 
Business group profit exceeded the target at £3.9 million – a significant increase on the  
£2.1 million of 2006 – while organic growth saw the business group expand from 1,110 people 
in 2006 to 1,247 by the end of 2007.

The business group was re-named in 2007 to reflect its increasing capability in the power 
sector, a move being driven forward by its newly appointed managing director. 

The new name not only highlights the range of services Halcrow supplies to the energy sector, 
from renewable hydro and nuclear energy to power transmission and distribution systems, but 
also the contribution it can make to resolving the global issues of energy security and supply.

Work in the power sector is expanding, with significant 
commissions underway in the Middle East, India, 
south-east Asia and Europe. Business has doubled over 
the last few years, with Halcrow’s share in the power 
market predicted to hit £30.0 million by 2010. 

Landmark projects during 2007 include award-
winning design and feasibility work on the Wavehub, 
a groundbreaking renewable energy project. It’s the 
UK’s first underwater offshore connection between the 
National Grid and wave energy devices. 

The team has also been involved in some of the 
UK’s most challenging nuclear decommissioning 
projects, with two major project wins for the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority at Sellafield.

Elsewhere, Halcrow delivered value to key spatial 
business clients in the UK, Middle East, the US, Europe 

Chief executive’s report

The water and power business group enjoyed great  
success in 2007. Business group profit exceeded the  
target at £3.9 million

Chief executive’s report
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and Latin America. The team is moving rapidly to 
respond to ever-evolving client needs, with a focus on 
delivering solutions rather than services. A notable win 
in 2007 was the provision of consultancy services on 
the landmark Masdar ‘green city’ construction in Abu 
Dhabi, which aims to be a zero-pollution, zero-waste 
development. All the companies involved in the project 
had to prove their sustainable credentials. 

2007 saw Halcrow maintain its market-leading position 
in the UK in flood risk management, as one of the 
Environment Agency’s leading service providers in this 
field of expertise. The team was also appointed by the 
Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs to 
co-ordinate 15 integrated urban drainage pilot projects 
throughout England. 

Meanwhile, key water resources commissions were 
won in China, India, Romania, the US, Latin America and 
north and east Africa. 

The company is now a major service provider to a number of water utilities clients around 
the world. Significant wins have been notched up from key UK clients Thames Water, Scottish 
Water, Anglian Water and Mid Kent Water (now South East Water). Other major projects have 
been won in Sharjah in the UAE, including a site supervision project for Sharjah Phase 7 
sewage treatment plant extensions, master planning and sewerage designs. 

In the latter part of the year, the team worked alongside partner CH2M Hill to secure the 
programme management role for Thames Water on the major Thames Tideway deep-tunnel 
combined sewer overflow project across London. 

Halcrow’s urban water business continues to grow in Europe, with engineering work on a 
£134.8 million water supply and wastewater treatment plant project in the City of Lodz in 
Poland. Business is also flourishing in the US and Australia, while Latin America is set to  
make massive strides forward, partnered with major regional contractors. Progress in  
Asia was marked by a framework agreement for the modelling of the water supply systems  
in Penang, Malaysia.

Our regions
Americas – 2007 was an outstanding year for Halcrow’s North American business. Strong 
growth continued to drive recruitment as the region passed the 500-employee threshold, and a 
number of new offices were opened. 

The region achieved a regional profit (profit before tax, interest but including the allocation of 
corporate overheads) of £4.1 million, an increase of 66 per cent on the previous year. 

Numbers swelled at the Houston office, which celebrated the completion of Exxon Mobil’s 
Golden Pass liquefied natural gas design project. In Tampa, Florida, a centre of excellence in 
coastal planning was established.

Chief executive’s report
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An office was opened in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, where the team is contributing to the 
state’s sustainable coastal protection plan for its battered coast following Hurricane Katrina. 
Property business group now has six offices, having opened three more in 2007, in Calgary, 
Grand Cayman and Chicago. Meanwhile, the maritime team opened an office in Virginia, 
capitalising on a series of successful US Navy projects. 

Among the region’s significant wins is the £100 million Dames Point container terminal in 
Florida for Jaxport, in which the Jacksonville office negotiated administration services for the 
construction phase of the project, saving the client £11.5 million.

The US west-coast team conducted audits and design improvements for many of California’s 
marine oil terminals, winning over £2.5 million of business over 2007. 

Shell Global Solutions International awarded Halcrow’s New York office a project to provide 
engineering services for its new liquefied natural gas receiving terminal in Jebel Ali, Dubai. 

Despite withdrawing from some markets, Halcrow’s Latin America business exceeded its 
target. Much of this growth can be attributed to the region’s diversification of its core sectors 
and expanding client base. Its increasing portfolio of projects was reflected in employee 
numbers, which grew to 85, its highest-ever figure. 

In Buenos Aires, the team is engaged in extensive traffic studies for a new motorway that will 
act as a second main ring road around the bustling metropolis. Several traffic and transport 
studies were completed for a trio of motorways in Santiago de Chile and its metro system.

The Latin American team has retained a strong presence in the water sector, with an 
ever-expanding local order book for wastewater processes, as well as sea outfall work. In 
particular, the team won a large water treatment plant commission for one of the world’s 
biggest dams at Itaipu in Argentina. 

This workload is managed and delivered entirely by local employees.

Asia Pacific – Halcrow’s operation in Asia Pacific embraces a region as culturally diverse 
as the transforming global powerhouses of India and China, the south-east-Asian tiger 
economies, and Australia’s mature market economy. The whole region returned a turnover of 
£27.0 million, an increase of 10 per cent on the previous year.

The Australia team had an outstanding year in 2007, 
winning a number of strategically important projects 
and reaching the key milestone of 100 employees. 

Important design commissions included the Bogong 
Hydropower Station and Melbourne’s sewer diversion 
tunnel, with combined fees of £2.7 million. The team is 
also providing transport planning services ready for the 
Pope’s visit to Australia in 2008.

A £12.0 million PPP rolling-stock procurement 
commission for RailCorp has cemented ties with China, 
with a project office established in Changchun.

Other high-profile projects in China include a study 
of the use of a compressed natural gas technique for 
tapping marginal gas fields, and design work for China 
Light and Power’s liquefied natural gas facility at South 
Soko Islands. 

Chief executive’s report

Chief executive’s report
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Reversing a declining trend that started in 2002, the Philippines office put in a sterling 
performance in 2007. Its work on a social protection index for Asia, for example, is set to have 
ramifications across the whole region.

Major commissions in Vietnam included the Mekong Transport and Flood Protection Project, 
extended to 2010, and the Rach Mieu Bridge, finished in December 2007. 

Halcrow’s India operation continued to expand. The business grew by 43 per cent over the 
year, thanks to a huge infrastructure expansion to meet the demands of the country’s booming 
economy. Hydropower business was especially brisk, with Halcrow securing a study for the 
1,000-megawatt Middle SIYOM hydro project. Transport planning skills were also commissioned 
for a 135km section of the New Delhi ring road, and a major urban planning and highway design 
assignment in Jaipur.

India is one of seven countries targeted by Halcrow for major growth. The company is 
strengthening its relationships with private-sector clients, which are playing an ever-more 
important role in the infrastructure sector. 

The country has an ambitious five-year plan to inject £250 billion into overhauling its 
infrastructure sector, with some £75.0 billion expected to be invested by the private sector. This 
will present a plethora of consulting opportunities for Halcrow.

Europe (outside UK) – The Europe and central Asia region has grown by more than 25 per 
cent over the last four years. Turnover in 2007 for the region was £16.0 million, an increase of  
14 per cent on the previous year.

This growth is due to significant expansion in the strategic countries of Ireland, Romania and 
Poland, and diversification into new market sectors, including flood risk management. 

Halcrow’s flourishing business in Ireland consolidated its work in highways. Halcrow Barry, 
a joint venture, played a key role in securing Ireland’s first Civil Engineering Environmental 
Quality Assessment award for the N7 Naas Road widening and interchange scheme. 

Other major Halcrow successes include its Dublin 
Airport commission and continued involvement in the 
feasibility design of the new Shannon liquefied natural 
gas terminal. 

With Ireland’s regional director also taking responsibility 
for commissions in Northern Ireland, further cross-
border opportunities are expected.

Business in Romania was very profitable in 2007, 
thanks to a wider client base and successful entry into 
new markets. In the highways sector, Halcrow won a 
220km-long highways rehabilitation commission, and 
celebrated the completion of the 13.6km bypass around 
Pitesti, opened by the country’s prime minister.

Other wins include two major dam projects, at Siriu and 
Lesu, and the River Siret flood study. In the rail sector, 

Chief executive’s report
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the strategic plan to improve the competitiveness of rail 
services was completed on time. Plus, the environment 
team further developed its relationship with key client, 
oil and gas producer, Petrom.

A successor to the region’s director was appointed, 
ready to take the reins in 2008.

The big news for Halcrow’s operations in Poland was 
the successful bid for a major rail contract to design a 
section upgrade of the E65 line between Gdansk and 
Warsaw, worth over £8.0 million to the company.

Greece has seen a number of successes in the highways 
sector. As well as a two-year extension to its work on 
the Attiki Odos motorway, the team won three major 
motorway commissions, and is providing services for 
the Thessaloniki submerged tunnel.

In Russia, meanwhile, the 25.4km-long St Petersburg flood protection barrier neared 
completion, and a port study in Novorossiysk was won. 

Middle East – The Middle East team enjoyed another successful year in 2007, recording 
regional profit of £1.3 million, an increase of £2.7 million on the previous year. 

A construction boom, fuelled by a move away from hydrocarbon-based wealth and into 
financial services and tourism, ensured massive infrastructure project commissions across 
virtually all sectors and countries. 

Halcrow has played a leading role in the region’s ongoing development, having been active 
there for over half a century. We are now working in Saudi Arabia, the UAE, Oman, Libya, Syria, 
Yemen, Qatar, Bahrain, Iran, Iraq, Kuwait and Pakistan. 

Encompassing 34 nationalities, employee numbers grew from 1,125 to 1,407 in 2007, with plans 
to recruit a further 600 in 2008.

Part of Halcrow’s contribution to Dubai’s ongoing renaissance was concluded in 2007 with 
the opening of the landmark Al Garhoud Bridge, which crosses Dubai Creek, dramatically 
improving traffic flow. Halcrow also advised the ruler’s office on the strategic plan for the city.

2007 saw a move to new offices in Abu Dhabi’s Al Bateen district. The local project team made 
impressive progress in the construction of the Grand Mosque, such that worshippers were 
able to attend prayers for Eid al Adha. 

In Sharjah City, highways services were provided to 40 urban districts. Significant headway 
was made on the King Abdul Aziz Road, the Sharjah sewerage and surface water master plan, 
the 1.25km-long tunnels between Diftah and Shis, and the earthworks for the Khor Fakkan to 
Shis mountain road. 

Qatar is home to some of the region’s most exciting projects. Last year, Halcrow completed 
several key phases in the infrastructure design on the £20 to £30 billion Lusail development 

Chief executive’s report
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project. The team is now rapidly expanding in 
preparation for the construction phase of this planned 
200,000-strong, world-class city. 

The construction of the unique tree-like roof structures 
for the Convention Centre at Qatar Education City 
moved further forward. In addition, the design of Qatar 
Petroleum’s liquefied natural gas export terminal at Ras 
Laffan was completed.

To ensure the regional team is able to continue 
meeting these imaginative and technically challenging 
developments, a new regional managing director was 
appointed in 2007. 

He began his tenure with a review of the region’s vision, 
which culminated in five core themes. These focus 
on client relationships, major project opportunities, 
working culture, knowledge sharing and profitability. 

Work won amounted to around £92.5 million, well ahead of the £44.0 million budgeted, giving 
the company an exceptionally strong base going into 2008. 

UK – Accounting for more than 50 per cent of the company’s turnover, the UK had a very 
profitable year, easily exceeding regional targets. 

Halcrow maintained its share of the UK market. The UK also saw a substantial regional profit 
increase, delivering £23.0 million in 2007.

Employee numbers grew to 3,322 people by the end of 2007, an increase of 7.5 per cent.

In the south of the country, 2007 saw new and extended framework agreements with county 
councils in Worcestershire and Portsmouth, as well as with British Waterways and Wessex 
Water. Halcrow also increased its work on London 2012 with CLM programme management, 
and secured key structural work on the 2012 Olympics Athlete Village.

Environmental and planning skills were in demand in the north, with land development 
projects at Longbridge in Birmingham, and Hillington in Glasgow, as well as for the Scotswood 
Expo in Newcastle. 

Also in the north, important wastewater projects continued to flourish in Knostrop and 
Nutwell, and the team celebrated a new commission in Harrogate South. The White Cart Flood 
Alleviation scheme in Glasgow saw some significant progress, while important commissions 
were secured to deliver master planning at Clyde Gateway and new buildings at Leeds 
Metropolitan University.

Relationships have strengthened with a number of private-sector customers, including 
Thames Water, Anglian Water, BAA, Scottish Power and St Modwen. And there is great 
potential to develop work with the recently merged South East Water and new client, 
Sainsbury’s, the supermarket giant. 

Chief executive’s report
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Business also grew with public-sector behemoths Transport for London, Greater Manchester 
Passenger Transport Executive, and Transport Scotland, as well as English Partnerships, the 
Highways Agency, the Environment Agency and the Office of Government Commerce.

Local teams cemented ties with regional agencies, including Swindon Borough Council, 
accounting for an increase in fees of over £1.0 million, the South West Regional Development 
Agency, One North East and Advantage West Midlands.

The UK celebrated the opening of a number of new or refurbished offices, including Bristol, 
and City Park in Glasgow.

Looking ahead, a key challenge will be to maintain the upward trend in profitability while 
carefully side-stepping the threat of financial turbulence. 

The regional teams will focus on increasing the quality of earnings through smarter delivery 
and client engagement. They will continue to play a leading role in all business improvement 
activities, reaping the rewards of the bid improvement programme and achieving financial 
savings under the Act now! programme. 

Halcrow started 2008 with a sterling performance behind it, a record order book and strong 
markets. But complacency is not an option; business improvement remains, as ever, a primary 
driver and key theme.

As always, behind all of Halcrow’s accomplishments is the hard work and dedication of its 
people. Their contribution to 2007 was exceptional. Now, with a refreshed strategy moving 
forward, we are very well placed to take the business to the next level in 2008.

Peter Gammie
Chief executive

Chief executive’s report
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 The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007. 

1 Principal activity         
 Halcrow Holdings Limited is the holding company for the Halcrow group of companies. The principal activity of 

the group is the provision of services as international consulting engineers.    

2 Group results      
 The group made a profit on ordinary activities after taxation of £20,200,000 (2006: £7,922,000).  

3 Dividend         
 The directors recommend a final dividend payment of 14.45p (2006: 10.00p) per ordinary share payable to those 

members on the register at the close of business on 29 May 2008. This, together with the interim dividend of 
13.05p (2006: 12.25p) per ordinary share, paid in January 2008 gives a total dividend of 27.50p compared with 
22.25p for the year ended 31 December 2006.   

 Approval of the payment of the dividend will be put to the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the 
company to be held on 22 July 2008. The Halcrow Trust has waived its entitlement to both this dividend and to 
the dividend on its holding of preference shares in 2007 and 2006.     

4 Business review and future developments
 The review of the business is included in the chairman’s statement on pages 4 and 5 and in the chief executive’s 

report on pages 6 to 17.

 The principal risks and uncertainties facing the business include foreign exchange risk and risk resulting from 
the diverse geographical spread of the business.       

5 Share capital         
 The ordinary share capital of the company at 31 December 2007 was held beneficially as follows: 

 The Halcrow Trust:  13,508,256 ordinary shares (70.16%) 
Directors and staff:  5,744,436 ordinary shares (29.84%)    

 The ordinary share capital at 30 April 2008 was held beneficially as follows:    

 The Halcrow Trust:  13,441, 524 ordinary shares (69.23%) 
Directors and staff:  5,974,000 ordinary shares (30.77%)    

 The 10,000 preference shares of £1 each were held beneficially by The Halcrow Trust at each of  
31 December 2006, 31 December 2007 and 30 April 2008.    

Directors’ report |  for the year ended 31 December 2007
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6 Directors   
 The following served on the board of directors during the period under review and to the current date 

(except as noted below):       

 A F Pryor, chairman (appointed 19 March 2007)  
P G Gammie, chief executive        
A Saffer (appointed 15 January 2007)       
L G Buck        
N Holt       
D J Kerr        
J A Theakston, non-executive director        
A K Allum (retired 29 June 2007)        
C A Fleming (retired 31 July 2007)       

7 Directors’ interests in shares of the company     
 The interests of persons who were directors at 31 December 2007 in the shares of the company  

were as follows:       

Ordinary shares of £1

30 April 
2008 

Number

31 December 
2007 

Number

31 December 
2006 

Number

A F Pryor  - -  -  

P G Gammie 111,426 106,097 97,047 

A Saffer  47,488 29,389  - 

L G Buck  63,346 63,017  37,023 

N Holt 72,768 70,319 58,061

D J Kerr  27,249 30,533 27,342

J A Theakston   7,500 7,500 -

A K Allum  - - 60,224 

C A Fleming  - - 78,548  

 (includes shares issued to Capita SIP Trustees Limited under the Halcrow share incentive plan, held on trust for 
the individual concerned)

Directors’ report  |  for the year ended 31 December 2007
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7 Directors’ interests in shares of the company (continued)   

Share options 
Ordinary shares of £1

30 April 
2008 

Number

31 December 
2007 

Number

31 December 
2006 

Number

A F Pryor  - - -

P G Gammie  93,507  93,507  6,502 

A Saffer  104,161 73,020 -

L G Buck  66,198  66,198 23,035

N Holt   65,436  65,436  4,716 

D J Kerr  64,783  64,783  4,655 

J A Theakston  - - -

A K Allum  - - 15,873

C A Fleming   - - 942

 Share options may be exercised as follows:        

Number Option price
Dates when 
exercisable

A F Pryor  - - -

P G Gammie   6,502  
 

 11,718  
 

 75,287  

 195p  
 

 256p  
 

 261p  

1 Dec 2008 to  
31 May 2009 

13 Mar 2010 to 
13 Mar 2017 

23 Aug 2010 to 
 23 Aug 2017

A Saffer   11,718  
 

61,302 
 

31,141

 256p  
 

261p 
 

289p

13 Mar 2010 to 
13 Mar 2017 

23 Aug 2010 to 
23 Aug 2017 

15 Jan 2011 to 
15 Jan 2018

L G Buck   1,639  
 

 11,494  
 

53,065

 220p  
 

 261p  
 

261p

1 Dec 2010 to  
31 May 2011 

12 Sep 2010 to 
12 Sep 2017 

23 Aug 2010 to 
23 Aug 2017

N Holt 653 
 

11,718  
 

 53,065

195p 
 

256p  
 

 261p

1 Dec 2010 to  
31 May 2011 

13 Mar 2010 to 
13 Mar 2017 

23 Aug 2010 to 
23 Aug 2017

D J Kerr       
 
 

  11,718  
 

 53,065  

 256p  
 

 261p  

13 Mar 2010 to  
13 Mar 2017 

23 Aug 2010 to 
23 Aug 2017

J A Theakston  - - -

A K Allum  - - -

C A Fleming  - - -

Directors’ report  |  for the year ended 31 December 2007
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7 Directors’ interests in shares of the company (continued)  
 L G Buck and J A Theakston as trustees, and P G Gammie by virtue of his directorship of Halcrow Staff and 

Services, which is trustee to The Halcrow Trust, have non-beneficial interests in the share capital of the 
company as follows:       

30 April 
2008

31 December 
2007

31 December 
2006

Ordinary shares of £1  13,441,524  13,508,256  14,321,688 

Preference shares of £1  10,000 10,000 10,000

 Each of the directors also has an interest as a potential beneficiary of The Halcrow Trust. The trust’s objectives 
include the provision of benefits to directors and staff of the company and its subsidiary undertakings. 

8 Close company status        
 The company is a close company within the provisions of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

9 Annual general meeting        
 The notice convening the annual general meeting, to be held at Burderop Park, Swindon, Wiltshire SN4 0QD on 

22 July 2008, is contained in a circular sent to the shareholders with this report. 

10 Charitable contributions        
 Contributions made by the group during the year for charitable purposes were £97,000 (2006: £66,000). 

11 Employee involvement        
 The policy of the group is one of continuing to develop effective means of consultation and communication 

within and between its operating constituents.       

 Consultation is achieved through a staff council, which is elected by employees and meets on a regular basis. 
Communication is achieved through a variety of means that deliver regular information relating to the finances,  
resources, technical developments and achievements of the group.     

 The group believes that employee share ownership is an important factor in employee involvement and it 
operates an internal market through which employees may buy and sell shares. It also operates a savings-
related share option scheme, a share incentive plan, as well as a dividend reinvestment plan under which 
employees may save and acquire shares in the company.       

Directors’ report  |  for the year ended 31 December 2007
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12 Disabled persons        
 The group’s policy is to give full and fair consideration to applications from disabled persons for positions in 

which they can perform the tasks required. Effectively the same opportunities for training, career advancement 
and promotion are given to disabled persons employed by the group as to all other staff, where this is 
practicable. The employment of those who become disabled while in the employment of the group is continued 
wherever possible.       

13 Employee equity incentive scheme      
 The group operates an employee equity incentive scheme under which directors and certain senior employees 

are encouraged to convert any bonus into shares of Halcrow Holdings Limited. Under the scheme, the recipient 
of a bonus may elect to subscribe for shares at the price offered by the internal market with part or all of the  
net bonus after tax. Shares purchased under the scheme are held in trust for a three-year period and,  
when they are released at the end of this retention period, they are matched by an equal number of shares 
provided by the group.       

 No shares were issued under the employee equity incentive scheme in the year ended 31 December 2007  
(2006: Nil).

14 Disclosure of information to auditors      
 Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

	 •	 so	far	as	the	director	is	aware,	there	is	no	relevant	audit	information	of	which	the	company’s	auditors	are	 
 unaware; and 
•	 the	director	has	taken	all	the	steps	that	he	ought	to	have	taken	as	a	director	in	order	to	make	himself	aware	 
 of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

 This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s 234ZA of the 
Companies Act 1985.      

15 Auditors        
 Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint them 

will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.      

 Registered office: By order of the board 
Vineyard House   
44 Brook Green K Mair 
London W6 7BY Secretary     
 9 June 2008   

 Registered number:  
1674044     
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 The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

 Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law 
the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial 
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group 
and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are 
required to:

	 	•	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently 
•	 make	judgments	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent 
•	 state	whether	applicable	United	Kingdom	accounting	standards	have	been	followed,	and 
•	 prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going-concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the		
 company will continue in business.

 The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

 The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

             

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
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We have audited the group and parent company financial 
statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Halcrow 
Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 
2007, which comprise the consolidated profit and loss 
account, the consolidated and company balance sheets, 
the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated 
statement of total recognised gains and losses and  
the related notes 1 to 34. These financial statements 
have been prepared under the accounting policies set 
out therein.

This report is made solely to the company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 
of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company 
and the company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of  
directors and auditors 
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual 
report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and United Kingdom accounting 
standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice) are set out in the statement of 
directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and fair view and are 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the directors’ report is consistent 
with the financial statements. The information given in 
the directors’ report includes that specific information 
presented in the chairman’s statements and chief 
executive’s statement that is cross referred from the 
business review and future developments section of the 
directors’ report.

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the 
company has not kept proper accounting records, if we 
have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit, or if information specified 
by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other 

transactions is not disclosed. 
We read the other information contained in the 

annual report as described in the contents section, 
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements. We consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend 
to any further information outside the annual report.

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgments made by the directors in the preparation of 
the financial statements, and of whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient 
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, 
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. 
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements.

Opinion  
In our opinion:  
•	 the	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	

accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, of the state of the group’s and 
the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 
and of the group’s profit for the year then ended

•	 the	financial	statements	have	been	properly	prepared	
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985, and

•	 the	information	given	in	the	directors’	report	is	
consistent with the financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered accountants and registered auditors

Reading, UK 
9 June 2008

Independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Halcrow Holdings Limited
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Notes
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Turnover: including group share of joint ventures 
Less share of joint ventures’ turnover 

388,141  
-

331,416 
(1,040)

Group turnover 
Cost of sales
Gross profit     
Administrative expenses    

3 
 
 

388,141  
(236,230)

151,911  
(123,486)

330,376  
(201,497)

128,879  
(117,562)

Operating profit before pension curtailment gain and  
exchange gain/(loss) 
Exchange gain/(loss)    
Pension curtailment gain   

 
 
 

31

 
22,129 

1,177 
5,119

 
15,694  
(4,377) 

-

Operating profit  
Share of (loss)/profit of joint ventures 
Interest receivable and similar income  
Interest payable and similar charges

4 
 

5 
6

28,425 
(65) 

2,189 
(1,658)

11,317 
6 

2,071  
(1,407)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

 
9

28,891 
(8,691)

11,987  
(4,065) 

Profit for the year after taxation 23, 24 20,200 7,922

              
 

Consolidated profit and loss account
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Notes
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Fixed assets   
Intangible assets  
 Goodwill 
 Negative goodwill 
     
Tangible assets    
Investments in joint ventures    
 Share of gross assets   
 Share of gross liabilities  
 
Investments in associated undertakings  
Trade investments    

 
11 

 
 

12 
 
 
 

13 
13 
14

 
 

16,834 
 - 

16,834

21,360 
 

456 
(124) 
332 
239 

17

38,782

 
 

16,550 
(7) 

16,543

20,461 
 

595 
(109) 
486 
241 
166

37,897

Current assets    
Debtors    
Cash at bank and in hand

16
 

132,490 
8,398

140,888

 
132,651 

2,691

135,342

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 
(including convertible debentures)   

 
17

 
(107,212)

 
(109,635)

Net current assets   33,676 25,707

Total assets less current liabilities   72,458 63,604

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (8,770) (11,871)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (3,132) (2,458)

Net assets (excluding pension liability)  60,556 49,275

Net pension liability 31 (52,090) (65,171)

Net assets (including pension liability) 8,466 (15,896)

Capital and reserves  
Called up share capital 
Share premium account  
Profit and loss account   

 
20 
21 
23

 
19,263 
2,383 

(13,180)

 
18,882 

1,788 
(36,566)

Total shareholders’ funds/(deficit) 24 8,466 (15,896)

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 9 June 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

P G Gammie A Saffer 
Director Director

 Consolidated balance sheet
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 Company balance sheet

Notes
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Fixed assets 
Investments in subsidiary undertakings  

 
15

 
10,200 

 
10,208 

Current assets    
Debtors

 
16

 
18,801 

 
18,899 

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 
(including convertible debentures)   17 (48) (63)

Net current assets   18,753 18,836 

Net assets  28,953 29,044 

Capital and reserves  
Called up share capital 
Share premium account  
Profit and loss account   

 
20 
21 
23

 
19,263  
2,383  
7,307 

 
18,882  

1,788  
8,374 

Total shareholders’ funds 24 28,953 29,044 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 9 June 2008 and signed on its behalf by:  
 

P G Gammie A Saffer 
Director Director
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Notes
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 25 27,795 6,856

Returns on investment and servicing of finance 
Interest received      
Interest paid    
Interest element of finance lease payments   

Net cash outflow from returns on investment and servicing of finance 

 
207  

(1,140) 
(2)

(935)

113  
(1,395) 

(12)

(1,294)

Taxation  
United Kingdom corporation tax paid    
Overseas tax paid 

Total cash outflow from taxation   

 
(1,483) 
(1,585) 

(3,068)

 
(2,091) 
(1,236)

(3,327)

Capital expenditure and financial investment  
Purchase of tangible fixed assets    
Disposal of tangible fixed assets    
Purchase of fixed asset investments  
Disposal of fixed asset investment  

Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and financial investment 

 
(7,297) 

40  
(10) 
193

(7,074)

 
(5,399) 

71 
(23) 

-

(5,351)

Acquisitions and disposals 
Subsidiary undertaking acquired – Transys International Consultants  
 Cash consideration including expenses   
 Cash acquired     
Subsidiary undertaking acquired – Halcrow Water Services Limited  
 Cash consideration including expenses   
 Overdraft acquired      
Deferred consideration paid – Yolles and Han Padron  

Net cash outflow for acquisitions and disposals   
 

 
- 
- 
 
- 
- 

(4,210)

(4,210)

(331) 
7 
 

(100) 
(8)  

(4,085)

(4,517)

Dividends paid (1,044) (832)

Cash inflow/(outflow) before financing 11,464 (8,465)

Financing   
Capital element of finance lease payments 
Repayment of bank loan 
Issue of ordinary share capital    
Repayment of debentures

Net cash outflow from financing   

 
 (143) 

(1,797) 
976  
(14)

(978)

  
(5)  

- 
- 

(14)

(19)

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 26,27 10,486 (8,484)

 Consolidated cash flow statement
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 Consolidated statement of total 
 recognised gains and losses

Notes
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Profit after taxation 20,200 7,922

Actuarial gain relating to the pension scheme  31 8,379 6,806

Movement on related deferred tax (2,346) (2,042)

Movement on deferred tax due to change in tax rate   (1,862) -

Total gains and losses recognised since last annual report and 
financial statements   

 
24,371 12,686
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1 Principal accounting policies     
(a) Accounting convention       

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting 
standards and under the historical cost convention. The particular accounting policies adopted are 
described below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the current and preceding year. 

(b) Consolidation       
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the company and all its 
subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and associated undertakings. Any subsidiary undertakings and 
joint ventures and associates sold or acquired during the year are included up to, or from, the date of 
sale or acquisition.  

 Intra-group sales and profit are eliminated fully on consolidation. On acquisition of a business, all of 
the assets and liabilities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded at their provisional fair values, 
reflecting their condition at that date. All changes to those assets and liabilities, and the resulting 
gains and losses, that arise after the group has gained control of the business are charged to the post-
acquisition profit and loss account.   

 The group has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ not to disclose 
transactions and balances between group companies which are eliminated on consolidation.  

 Joint ventures are entities in which the group holds long-term interests and which are jointly controlled 
by the group and one or more other ventures under a contractual arrangement. The results of joint 
ventures are accounted for using the gross equity method of accounting.     

 Associated undertakings are entities in which the group has a participating interest and over 
whose operating and financial policies it exercises a significant influence. The results of associated 
undertakings are accounted for using the net equity method.

(c) Turnover       
Turnover represents amounts earned for professional services and items procured for clients, adjusted, 
where necessary, for the stage of completion on individual contracts. It excludes value added and  
similar taxes.

(d) Recognition of profit       
Profit on contracts for the supply of professional services at pre-determined rates is taken as and when 
the work is carried out, irrespective of the duration of the contract.

 Profit is taken on fixed-price contracts while the contract is in progress, having regard to the proportion 
of the total contract which has been completed at the balance sheet date. Provision is made for all 
foreseeable future losses.

(e) Amounts recoverable on contracts       
Amounts recoverable on contracts represent turnover and supply of services which has not yet been 
invoiced to clients. Such amounts are separately disclosed within debtors. 

Notes to the financial statements
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)     
(e) Amounts recoverable on contracts (continued) 

The valuation of amounts recoverable on fixed-price contracts is adjusted to recognise profit to date or 
foreseeable losses in accordance with the accounting policy for recognition of profit.

 Cost comprises: 
	 •	 amounts	recoverable	valued	at	the	cost	of	salaries	and	associated	payroll	expenses	of 
  employees engaged on projects 
	 •	 unbilled	expenses	incurred	and	equipment	purchased	for	clients	in	connection	with 
  specific contracts     

 Where amounts invoiced to clients exceed the book value of work done, the excess is included in 
creditors as payments on account.      

(f) Goodwill       
Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of identifiable net 
assets acquired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised in accordance with FRS 10 ‘Goodwill and 
Intangible Assets’. Where these assets are regarded as having limited useful lives, they are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over these lives, which range from five to 20 years. No goodwill balance has 
previously been eliminated against reserves in the year of acquisition.    

 Goodwill which is held in foreign currencies is retranslated to the closing exchange rate.  

 Impairment provisions are determined by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its 
recoverable amount.          

(g) Fixed assets       
Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation and impairment provisions. Impairment provisions are 
determined by comparing the carrying value of the asset with its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the amount that can be obtained from selling the asset or the value of expected 
discounted cash flows arising from owning the asset.      

(h) Depreciation of tangible fixed assets       
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is by equal annual instalments calculated to write off the cost of 
each asset less estimated residual value over its anticipated useful life.    

 The annual rate of depreciation applied to each class of tangible fixed asset is as follows:   
Short leasehold property  Period of lease 
Freehold land   Nil  
Freehold property   1%   
Motor vehicles   25% 
Furniture and equipment: 
Computers    25% to 33%   
Others     20% 

(i) Finance costs  
Finance costs of financial liabilities are recognised in the profit and loss account over the term of such 
instruments at a constant rate on the carrying amount.      

(j) Investments       
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment. Impairment provisions 
are determined by comparing the carrying value of the investment with its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of the amount that can be obtained from selling the investment or the 
value of expected discounted cash flows arising from owning the investment.    
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(k) Foreign exchange 

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into sterling using the exchange rate applicable at the 
date of the transaction or, if hedged forward, at the rate of exchange under the related forward currency 
contract. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling 
at year-end exchange rates or, if appropriate, at a forward contract rate. All exchange differences are 
dealt with through the profit and loss account.

 All other exchange adjustments are included in the profit and loss account. These include those arising 
from the translation of the opening net investment in the group’s foreign subsidiaries, and exchange 
adjustments arising on the translation of foreign currency borrowings used to fund the acquisition of 
foreign subsidiaries.  

(l) Taxation 
UK corporation tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted by the balance sheet date. 

 Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet 
date to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they 
crystallise, based on current tax rates and law. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis. 
Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items in income and expenditure in taxation computations 
in periods different from those in which they are included in financial statements. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be recovered. 

(m) Pensions 
Benefits are funded by payments to administered funds. 

 The main scheme is the Halcrow Pension Scheme, which provides benefits calculated in relation to 
final salary.       

 For defined-benefit schemes the amounts charged to operating profit are the current service costs and 
gains and losses on settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs. Past service 
costs are recognised immediately in the profit and loss account if the benefits have vested. If the benefits 
have not vested immediately, the costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs. The interest 
cost and the expected return on assets are shown as a net amount of other finance costs or credits 
adjacent to interest. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of total 
recognised gains and losses.     

 Defined-benefit schemes are funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the 
group, in separate trustee-administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate 
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term 
to the scheme liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at 
each balance sheet date. The resulting defined-benefit asset or liability, net of the related deferred tax, is 
presented separately after other net assets on the face of the balance sheet.

 For defined-contribution schemes the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of 
pension costs and other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Differences  
between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or 
prepayments in the balance sheet.  
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(n) Leases       

Payments under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. 
Assets funded by finance leases are included in tangible fixed assets at their fair value. The excess of 
lease payments over the recorded lease obligations is treated as a finance charge which is amortised 
over the term of each lease to give a constant rate of charge in the profit and loss account over the 
remaining period of the obligations. 

(o) Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
Derivatives are initially accounted for and measured at fair value on the date a derivative contract is 
entered into and subsequently measured at fair value. The gain or loss on re-measurement is taken to 
the income statement except where the derivative is a designated cash flow hedging instrument. 

(p) Share-based payments 
The group has applied the requirements of FRS 20 ‘Share-based Payment’. In accordance with 
the transitional provisions, FRS 20 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after  
7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 January 2006. 

 The group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-
based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting 
conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s 
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting 
conditions.

 Fair value is measured by the use of the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in the 
model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

2 Profit of parent company       
 In accordance with the exemption allowed by S230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account of the 

parent has not been presented. Of the profit for the period attributable to the shareholders, a loss of £23,000 
(2006: loss £15,000) has been dealt with in the accounts of the parent. This loss is before dividends paid of 
£1,044,000 (2006: £832,000).
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3 Segmental information        
 The directors consider there to be one class of business. Geographical analyses of turnover, profit on ordinary 

activities before taxation and net assets/(liabilities) are set out below:

Turnover
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

United Kingdom 
East Asia     
North America  
Central and South America    
Middle East     
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)    
South Asia     
Africa     
Australia 

   

 208,415 
14,500 
44,142 

6,153 
82,698 
15,958 

5,160 
3,757 
7,358

388,141

184,398 
14,032  
32,711  
12,417 
59,796 
14,045  

4,776  
2,381  
5,820

330,376 

 Geographical segmentation of turnover by destination is not materially different from turnover by origin.  

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

United Kingdom 
East Asia     
North America 
Central and South America     
Middle East     
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)     
South Asia     
Africa     
Australia 

Net interest

23,012 
(594) 

4,086 
(502) 
1,295 

531 
(941) 
(150)  

1,623

28,360 
531

28,891

9,820 
(522) 

2,454 
(224) 

(1,426) 
206 

(134) 
604 
545

11,323 
664

11,987

Net assets/(liabilities)    
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

United Kingdom 
East Asia     
North America 
Central and South America     
Middle East     
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)    
South Asia     
Africa     
Australia 

   

1,098 
589 

3,401 
24 

2,640 
244 
168 
57 

245

8,466

(721) 
(1,467) 
(5,726) 

178 
(6,487) 

(402) 
(632) 

(48) 
 (591)

(15,896)
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4 Operating profit         

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Auditors’ remuneration for audit – group  
Auditors’ remuneration for other services – group 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets – owned  
 – leased

Amortisation of goodwill 
Bad debt expense    
Profit on sale of tangible fixed assets    
Exchange (gains)/losses 
Operating leases:       
 Plant and machinery     
 Other  

 

177 
67 

6,184 
189

1,145 
1,418 

(15) 
(1,177) 

 
1,060 
5,462

169 
338 

5,163 
36

789 
1,940 

(6) 
4,378 

 
889 

4,889

 The group audit fee includes £10,000 (2006: £10,000) in respect of the company. Non-audit fees comprise tax 
services of £59,000 (2006: £150,000) and other services of £8,000 (2006: £188,000).

 The group’s gains included in the profit and loss account in relation to financial instruments held at fair value 
analysed by financial instrument category are as follows: 

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Interest-rate derivatives  40 101  

5 Interest receivable and similar income  

Interest receivable on:   
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Short-term bank deposits 
Net interest credit on pension schemes 
Exchange gain on foreign-currency borrowings

 

 

207 
1,982 

-

2,189

113 
859 

1,099

2,071

6 Interest payable and similar charges  

Interest payable on:   
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Bank loans and overdrafts 
Finance leases     
Debentures  
Exchange loss on foreign currency borrowings

 

1,144 
2 
4 

508

1,658

1,391 
12 
4 
-

1,407 
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7 Employee information      

(a) The average number of persons, including    
 directors, employed by the group during the year was:

2007 
Number

2006 
Number

 Professional and technical   
 Administrative   

5,040 
981

6,021

4,020  
793 

4,813 

(b) Staff costs during the year were:
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

 Wages and salaries   
 Social security costs   
 Other pension costs 

 

206,312 
11,991 
12,793

231,096

166,867  
10,039  

9,137

186,043

8 Directors’ emoluments

Staff costs include the following emoluments of directors 
of Halcrow Holdings Limited:   

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Aggregate emoluments    
Contributions to money-purchase pension arrangement 

 
 

1,197 
13

1,210

1,159 
16 

1,175 

Aggregate emoluments include amounts paid to:  
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

The highest-paid director 
 Emoluments    

  
226 

 
255 

  

The highest-paid director had benefits under the Halcrow 
Pension Scheme as follows:

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Accrued annual pension at end of year     86 48 

 Four directors exercised share options during the year (2006: three). Three directors (2006: four) were accruing 
benefits under the Halcrow Pension Scheme, a defined-benefit scheme.  
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9 Tax on profit on ordinary activities    

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

United Kingdom corporation tax at 30 per cent 
 Current year  
 Adjustment in respect of prior periods

 
 

4,855 
(91)

 
1,509 
 (201)

 
 Less: double taxation relief

 

 4,764 
-

4,764

1,308 
(15) 

1,293
Overseas taxation    
Share of joint ventures’ tax charge/(credit)

Total current tax

1,100 
19

5,883

974  
(5) 

2,262

Deferred taxation, origination and reversal of timing differences 
Deferred taxation, pension liability

(657) 
3,465

74 
1,729

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 8,691 4,065 

 The standard rate of tax for the year, based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax, is 30 per cent. The actual 
tax charge for the current and the previous year varies from the standard rate for the reasons set out in the 
following reconciliation.

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at standard rate  
 
Factors affecting charge for the period:    
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  
Pension provision 
Capital allowances less than (in excess of) depreciation  
Other timing differences     
Goodwill amortisation     
Foreign tax charged at higher rates than UK standard rate  
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 

 

28,891

8,667 
 
 

 85 
 (3,385) 

8 
 4 

 77 
 518 
 (91)

11,987

3,596 
  
 

262  
(1,729)  

(72)  
116  
77  

213  
(201) 

Total current tax 5,883 2,262

10 Ordinary dividends        

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Interim paid: 12.25p (2006: 11.00p) per ordinary share 
Final paid: 10.00p (2006: 11.30p) per ordinary share   

552 
492

1,044

393 
439 

832

 The Halcrow Trust waived its rights to dividends payable on its holdings of both ordinary and preference shares 
in respect of both the year ended 31 December 2007 and the year ended 31 December 2006.

 The directors recommend a final dividend payment of 14.45p (2006: 10.00p) per ordinary share payable to those 
members on the register at the close of business on 29 May 2008. This, together with the interim dividend paid 
in January 2008 of 13.05p (2006: 12.25p) per ordinary share, gives a total dividend of 27.50p compared with 
22.25p for the year ended 31 December 2006.       
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11 Intangible assets - goodwill

Group    
Goodwill 

£000
Negative goodwill 

£000

Cost   
At 1 January 2007  
Exchange movements    

 
23,262 

1,577

 
(375) 

- 

At 31 December 2007  24,839 (375)

Amortisation     
At 1 January 2007  
Exchange movements   
Charge/(credit) for the year

 
6,712 

141 
1,152

 
(368) 

- 
(7)

At 31 December 2007   8,005 (375)

Net book value 
At 31 December 2007 16,834 -

At 31 December 2006 16,550 (7)

 Goodwill is being amortised on a straight-line basis over periods of between five and 20 years. These are the 
periods over which the directors estimate that the values of the underlying businesses acquired are expected to 
exceed the value of the underlying assets.        

 Company   
The company has no intangible assets.        
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12 Tangible fixed assets 

 
Group

 
Land 

Freehold 
£000

 
 and buildings 

Short lease 
£000

 
Motor 

vehicles 
£000

 
Furniture and 

equipment 
£000

 
 

Total 
£000

Cost   
At 1 January 2007   
Additions     
Disposals   

8,208 
- 
-

 
4,336  

697  
(269)

 
667  
82 

(47)

 
33,943 
6,546 

(2,096)

 
47,154 
7,325 

(2,412)

At 31 December 2007  8,208 4,764 702 38,393 52,067

Depreciation   
At 1 January 2007   
Charge for the year   
Disposals

 
1,207  

163 
-

 
2,491 

579 
(269)

 
463 

94 
(47)

 
22,532  

5,537 
(2,043)

 
26,693 
6,373 

(2,359)

At 31 December 2007  1,370 2,801 510 26,026 30,707

Net book value   
At 31 December 2007

 
6,838

 
1,963

 
192

 
12,367

 
21,360

At 31 December 2006 7,001 1,845 204 11,411 20,461

  Tangible fixed assets shown above include fixed assets held under finance leases as follows:  

Net book value at end of year  
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Furniture and equipment  436 599

Depreciation charge for the year  
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Furniture and equipment  189 36

 Freehold property 
The group’s freehold property at Burderop Park, Swindon, Wiltshire, UK is included in the balance sheet at 
its purchase price plus the cost of additions. Its purchase price was equal to a valuation by Kemp & Hawley, 
chartered surveyors, on an open-market basis as at 30 April 1990. The latest valuation carried out by  
Strutt & Parker as at 31 December 2004 gave a value of £6,250,000.    

 Company 
The company has no tangible fixed assets.
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13 Investments in joint ventures and associated undertakings

Group   £000

Joint ventures 
Cost plus share of retained profit   
At 1 January 2007     
Disposal     
Share of retained losses in the year  
Exchange movements 

 
 

486 
(34)  
(90) 
(30)

At 31 December 2007   332

Associated undertakings  £000

Cost plus share of retained profit   
At 1 January 2007 
Share of retained losses in the year

 
241 
(2)

At 31 December 2007   239

14 Trade investments       

Group £000

Cost   
At 1 January and 31 December 2006  
Additions  
Disposals

166 
10 

(159)

At 31 December 2007   17

 The directors consider the market value of the trade investments at 31 December 2007 to be not less than  
their carrying value. 

15 Investments in subsidiary undertakings     
Company     
Shares in subsidiary undertakings  £000

Cost       
At 1 January 2007  
Disposal

31 December 2007

 
11,327  

(8)

11,319

Provisions     
At 1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007 

 
1,119 

Net book value 
At 31 December 2007  

 
10,200 

At 31 December 2006  10,208

 The principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 34 of the financial statements.    
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16 Debtors       

Group Company

Amounts falling due within one year 
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Trade debtors   
Amounts recoverable on contracts  
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 
Other debtors   
Prepayments and accrued income 

84,300 
33,255 

- 
7,505 
6,326

131,386

75,769 
45,497 

- 
6,127 
4,811

132,204

- 
- 

18,801 
- 
-

18,801

- 
- 

18,891 
8 
-

18,899

Amounts falling due in more than one year

Deferred taxation:  
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 1,104 447 - - 

132,490 132,651 18,801 18,899

 Deferred taxation 
The movement in the total deferred tax asset during the year reconciles as follows:   

£000

Balance at 1 January 2007 
Credit to profit and loss account  

Balance at 31 December 2007  

447 
657

1,104

 A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of timing differences relating to tax losses as there 
is insufficient evidence that the losses will be utilised in the foreseeable future. The amount of the asset not 
recognised is £1,874,000 (2006: £1,600,000). The asset would be recovered if sufficient future taxable profit are 
made in the appropriate jurisdictions.       

17 Creditors - amounts falling due within one year  

Group Company

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Bank loans and overdrafts – secured 
Payments on account   
Trade creditors   
Obligations under finance leases  
Amounts owed to associated undertakings 
United Kingdom corporation tax  
Other taxation and social security  
Debentures – unsecured    
Deferred consideration  
Other creditors   
Accruals and deferred income

  

6,552 
45,803 

6,664 
137 
185 

3,767 
11,872 

48 
179 

6,919 
25,086

107,212

11,331 
50,159 
11,127 

145 
184 
971 

8,076 
62 

2,778 
13,530 
11,272

109,635

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

48 
- 
- 
-

48

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

62 
- 
1 
-

63

 Bank loans and overdrafts are secured by fixed and floating charges over the group’s assets.
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17 Creditors - amounts falling due within one year (continued)
 Debentures  

The debentures were issued to the vendors of Crouch Hogg Waterman Limited as part of the purchase 
consideration. They bear interest at 7 per cent per annum and are repayable in half-yearly instalments to each 
holder after he ceases to be employed by the group.       

 £16,506 of the debentures may be converted to ordinary shares at the option of the holders at any time. The 
price of an ordinary share to be used as the basis for calculating the number of ordinary shares to be allotted 
will be equal to net assets per share calculated from the figure for shareholders’ funds disclosed in the 
company’s financial statements at the date of conversion. 

Group and company

The movements on debentures were as follows:
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Balance at beginning of the year 
Redemptions  

Balance at end of the year

62 
(14)

48

76 
(14)

62

18 Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year  

Group Company

2007 
£0 00

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Bank loans repayable between  
two and five years 
Obligations under finance leases  
Deferred consideration 
Accruals and deferred income

8,500 
270 

- 
-

8,770

9,789 
405 

1,611 
66

11,871

-   
-  
-  
- 

-

-   
-  
-  
- 

-

 The bank loans are repayable under fixed instalments. Interest is charged at 1.25 per cent above base rate and 
the loans are secured by fixed and floating charges over the group’s assets.    

 Obligations under finance leases 
Amounts shown above as obligations under finance leases falling due after more than one year are due between 
the second and fifth years inclusive and are secured on the related leased assets.  

Group Company

 
Maturity of financial liabilities

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Less than one year  
Between two and five years  

6,689 
8,770

15,459

11,476 
10,194

21,670

-  
-  

-

-  
- 

- 
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19 Provisions for liabilities and charges     

Group  

At 1 January 
2007 
£000

Charged/(credited) 
to profit and loss 

£000
Paid in year 

£000

At 31 December 
2007 
£000

Property dilapidation 
Excesses on insured claims 
Contract losses  

1,762 
643 

53

780 
(230) 

448

(324) 
- 
-

2,218 
413 
501

2,458 998 (324) 3,132

 Details of group provisions are as follows:       

 Property dilapidation 
Provision is made for the expected amount of payments to be made to landlords of properties leased by the 
group at their termination. The relevant leases expire between 2008 and 2015.

 Excesses on insured claims 
When claims have been made against the group, provision is made for the amount that falls within the excess  
of the group’s professional indemnity insurance policy. The provision will be utilised over the period of the 
related claim.  

 Contract losses 
Provision is made in accordance with SSAP 9 for contracts whose expected contribution does not include a 
reasonable allocation of overheads. The provision will be utilised over the period of the related contracts.

 Company 
The company has no provisions. 

20 Share capital         

Group and company  
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Authorised 
25,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each  
10,000 non-redeemable preference shares of £1 each 

25,000  
10

25,010 

25,000  
10

25,010 

Allotted and fully paid
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

19,252,769 (2006: 18,872,013) ordinary shares of £1 each 
 
10,000 non-redeemable preference shares of £1 each

19,253  
10

19,263 

18,872 
10 

18,882 

 During the year, 380,756 ordinary shares of £1 each were issued in relation to the exercise of the share incentive 
plan (see note 22). The total cash consideration received was £976,000. 

 The preference shares of £1 each are non-redeemable. The holders have no voting rights but have the right, as 
a class, to appoint two directors. They have a non-cumulative right to receive a dividend of 1p per share prior to 
any distribution to holders of the ordinary shares. In the event of a winding up, they have the right to a return of 
assets to the value of £1 per share before any payment to the holders of ordinary shares.    
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 21 Share premium account        

Group and company  
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

At the beginning of the year 
On shares issued during the year 

At the end of the year    

1,788 
595

2,383

1,788 
-

1,788 

22 Options
 Options in respect of 1,332,368 ordinary shares of £1 each were outstanding at 31 December 2007  

(2006: 2,030,551) under the group’s savings-related share option scheme. These may be exercised as follows:

Option price Exercisable
2007 

Number
2006 

Number

177p 
189p 
195p 
195p 
195p 
205p 
205p 
205p 
220p 
220p 
220p

 2006 
 2007  
 2006  
 2008  
 2010  
 2007  
 2009  
 2011  
2008  
2010  
2012 

- 
68,932 

- 
369,916 
179,391 
31,582 

218,757 
98,605 

119,493 
163,445 

82,247

1,332,368

20,966 
457,817 
29,399 

386,165 
190,228 
146,290 
253,413 
115,170 
142,188 
193,705 

95,210

2,030,551

 In some circumstances, including the redundancy or death of the holder, options may be exercised at earlier 
dates than those shown above.       

 The weighted average share price during the year was 263.50p. The weighted average option price for share 
options exercised during the year was 192.09p.     

 The weighted average life of the options outstanding at 31 December 2007 was 728 days.   

 No options were granted during 2007 and the group’s share-based payments charge for 2007 is £59,000 (2006: 
£68,000). 500,000 options were exercised during the year and 161,000 options expired or lapsed. The fair values 
were determined using a valuation model which included the following significant inputs:

 Risk-free interest rate 5%  
Dividend yield 10% 
Expected share price volatility 26%

 The share price volatility is based on similar UK businesses operating in similar sectors.   
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23 Profit and loss account reserve  
Group Company

2007 
£000

2007 
£000

At the beginning of the year  
Retained profit/(loss) for the year    
Ordinary dividends    
Actuarial gain on pension schemes (net of deferred tax) 
Movement on deferred tax on pension schemes due to change in rate 
Share-based payments    

(36,566) 
20,200 
(1,044) 
6,033 

(1,862) 
59

8,374 
(23) 

(1,044) 
- 
- 
-

At the end of the year  (13,180) 7,307

24 Movement in shareholders’ funds/(deficit)     
   Group    Company

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

At the beginning of the year  
Profit/(loss) for the year after taxation 
Ordinary dividends  
Allotment of ordinary shares 
Actuarial gain on pension schemes (net of 
deferred tax) 
Movement on deferred tax on pension schemes 
due to change in rate 
Share-based payments

(15,896) 
20,200 
(1,044) 

976 
 

6,033 
 

(1,862) 
59

(27,818) 
7,922 
(832) 

- 
 

4,764 
 
- 

68

29,044 
(23) 

(1,044) 
976 

 
- 
 
- 
-

29,891 
(15) 

(832) 
- 
 
- 
 
- 
-

At the end of the year  8,466 (15,896) 28,953 29,044

25 Net cash inflow from operating activities    

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Operating profit  
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets  
Amortisation of goodwill   
Profit on sale of fixed assets   
Decrease/(increase) in debtors    
Increase in creditors   
Increase in provisions   
Adjustment for pension funding   
Adjustment for foreign-exchange differences 
Adjustment for share-based payments

   

28,425 
6,373 
1,145 

(15) 
818 

2,115 
674 

(10,393) 
(1,406) 

59

27,795

11,317 
5,199 

789 
(6) 

(21,825) 
15,057 

315 
(4,905) 

847 
68

6,856
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26 Reconciliation of cashflow to movement in net debt  
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year    
Capital element of finance lease payments  
Repayment of bank loans 
Repayment of debenture loans   

Movement in net debt resulting from cash flows  
New finance leases  
Exchange movement on long-term loans

 
Net debt at the beginning of the year   

Net debt at the end of the year   

10,486 
143 

1,797 
14

12,440 
- 

(508)

11,932 
(19,041)

(7,109)

(8,484) 
5 
- 

14

(8,465) 
(533) 
1,099

(7,899) 
(11,142)

(19,041)

27 Analysis of net debt     

2006 
£000 Cash flow

Other 
non-cash 
changes

2007 
£000

Cash at bank and in hand 
Bank loans and overdrafts   
 Amounts falling due within one year

 
 Amounts falling due after one year

2,691 
  

(11,331) 

(8,640)  
(9,789)

5,707 
 

4,779

10,486 
1,797

-  
 
-

-  
(508)

8,398 
 

(6,552)

1,846  
(8,500)

Obligations under finance leases     
 Amounts falling due within one year 
 Amounts falling due after more than one year

(145) 
(405) 

143 
-

(135) 
135

(137) 
(270)

Debentures 
 Amounts falling due within one year (62) 14 - (48)

(19,041) 12,440 (508) (7,109)

 The non-cash movement results from the retranslation of loans denominated in foreign currencies at closing 
exchange rates.

28 Capital commitments    

Group Company

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Contracted but not provided for in the 
financial statements  

 
 96

 
 124 

 
-

 
-
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29 Contingent liabilities      

Group Company

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Performance and advance payment bonds 
provided by banks

Borrowings of subsidiary undertakings for  
which guarantees have been given 

 

 20,440

 
-

 20,440

 9,852 

 
 -

 9,852 

 
 - 
 

 6,552

 6,552

 
 - 

 
 4,396 

 4,396 

 Where contract values are denominated in foreign currencies, the group in some cases enters into forward 
exchange contracts to protect the sterling value of its future earnings.     

 The company has also provided guarantees on behalf of subsidiary undertakings in respect of property  
leases entered into in the ordinary course of business and has agreed to continue to support certain of its 
subsidiary undertakings.  

30 Lease commitments 
 At 31 December 2007, the group was committed to making the following payments during the next year in 

respect of operating leases: 

Group

Land and buildings 
2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Leases which expire:   
Within one year   
In second to fifth years   
After more than five years 

 

 
 282 

1,673 
 3,550

5,505

 
 278  

 1,864  
 2,827 

 4,969 

Other

Leases which expire: 
Within one year 
In second to fifth years  

 

 
 72 

900 

 972 

 
 83 
962 

 1,045 

 The company had no operating lease commitments. 
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31 Pension commitments        
 The group operates various pension schemes for eligible employees. The assets of all schemes are held 

separately from those of the group and are invested by independent investment managers.   

 The main scheme is the Halcrow Pension Scheme which is a defined-benefit scheme. The group also sponsors 
the Pension & Life Assurance Plan of Halcrow Fox & Associates Limited and contributes to the Halcrow Rail 
section of the Railways Pension Scheme, both of which are also defined-benefit arrangements. Contributions 
are paid to the schemes as agreed with the trustees of those schemes.     

 All defined-benefit schemes have been closed to new entrants for a number of years. During 2007, the company 
consulted with staff regarding changes to the schemes. Following the consultation, the decision was taken 
to close the schemes to future accrual with effect from 31 December 2007, with the exception of the Railways 
Pension Scheme and those members covered by the TUPE provisions. This resulted in a curtailment gain of 
£5,119,000. For those members affected, their defined-benefit pensions will remain linked to their pensionable 
salary (with certain restrictions) for a period of five years from 1 January 2008. After this date, such members 
have the right to earn current service benefits in the Halcrow Money Purchase Plan (HMPP).   

 Over the year to 31 December 2007, contributions by the group of £10,930,000 were made to the main scheme 
(2006: £9,705,000). Following the 2005 actuarial valuation and subsequent benefit changes, the group has 
agreed to pay contributions of £9.45 million per annum in 2008, increasing in line with inflation. Additional 
contributions dependent on company performance may also be paid. Total contributions of 26 per cent of 
pensionable salaries will be paid in respect of any members who continue to accrue benefits (payable in 
aggregate by the members and the employer). Contributions of £771,000 (2006: £641,000) were made to the 
Halcrow Fox scheme. In agreement with the trustees, the group has agreed to pay contributions of £750,000 
per year for the next three years followed by £600,000 per year for six years thereafter. In addition, a one-off 
payment of £250,000 has been paid in May 2008. Contributions of £860,000 (2006: £480,000) were made to the 
Railways scheme. Further contributions were made to other smaller arrangements.    

 The group contributed £4,574,000 (2006: £2,463,000) to the HMPP, which is a defined-contribution arrangement. 
Contributions to this arrangement are expected to increase in 2008, as the majority of former members of the 
defined-benefit schemes now earn benefits in HMPP.   

 Calculations based on a full actuarial valuation of the main scheme as at 31 December 2005 have been updated 
to the accounting date by an independent qualified actuary in accordance with accounting standard FRS 17.  
As required by FRS 17, the value of the defined-benefit liabilities has been measured using the projected  
unit method. 

 The following table sets out the key FRS 17 assumptions used for the schemes. The tables below also set out 
as at 31 December 2005, 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007 the fair value of assets, a breakdown of the 
assets into the main asset classes, the present value of the FRS 17 liabilities and the deficit of assets below the 
FRS 17 liabilities.  

 Assumptions

  2007 2006 2005

Price inflation 
Discount rate   
Pension increases – fixed   
Pension increases – 5 per cent limited price indexation 
Salary growth – on average  

3.40% pa 
5.70% pa 
5.00% pa 
3.30% pa 
4.40% pa

3.00% pa 
5.15% pa 
5.00% pa 
3.00% pa 
4.00% pa

2.70% pa 
4.85% pa 
5.00% pa 
2.70% pa 
3.70% pa

 On the basis of the assumptions used for life expectancy, a male pensioner currently aged 60 would be expected 
to live for a further 24.7 years (2006: 23.5 years). Allowance is made for future improvements in life expectancy, 
so a pensioner reaching the age of 60 in 2027 would be expected to live for a further 25.9 years. 
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31 Pension commitments (continued)
 Asset distribution and expected return     

31 December 2007

Expected return

Fair value: 
schemes 
in deficit 

£000

Fair value: 
scheme 

in surplus 
£000

Total 
£000

Components 
Equities   
Bonds   
Property  
Actively managed currency fund 
Other  

8.1% pa 
5.0% pa 
6.4% pa 
7.4% pa 
4.4% pa

144,917  
138,596  

17,300  
19,579   
1,900 

31,600  
6,200  
4,000  

100  
- 

176,517  
144,796  
21,300  
19,679  
1,900 

Balance sheet 
Total fair value of assets  
Present value of liabilities 

322,292  
(395,739) 

41,900  
(40,800) 

364,192  
 (436,539) 

(Deficit)/surplus in the schemes 
Related deferred tax 

(73,447)  
20,565 

1,100  
 (308) 

(72,347)  
20,257 

Net pension (liabilities)/assets (52,882) 792 (52,090) 

 

31 December 2006

Expected return

Fair value: 
schemes 
in deficit 

£000

Fair value: 
scheme 

in surplus 
£000

Total 
£000

Components 
Equities   
Bonds   
Property  
Other  

8.0% pa 
5.1% pa 
6.3% pa 
5.2% pa

210,711 
70,978 
18,400  

2,401 

29,500 
5,800 
3,900  

- 

240,211 
76,778 
22,300  

2,401 

Balance sheet 
Total fair value of assets  
Present value of liabilities 

302,490  
(396,391) 

39,200  
(38,400) 

341,690  
 (434,791) 

(Deficit)/surplus in the schemes 
Related deferred tax 

(93,901)  
28,170  

800   
 (240) 

(93,101)  
27,930  

Net pension (liabilities)/assets (65,731) 560 (65,171) 
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31 Pension commitments (continued)
31 December 2005

Expected return

Fair value: 
schemes 
in deficit 

£000

Components 
Equities   
Bonds   
Property   
Other  

7.8% pa 
4.2% pa 
6.0% pa 
4.2% pa

218,014  
69,973 
19,400 
1,582 

Balance sheet 
Total fair value of assets  
Present value of liabilities  

308,969 
(414,640) 

Deficit in the schemes  
Related deferred tax  

(105,671) 
31,701 

Net pension liabilities  (73,970) 

 Under FRS 17, the schemes are represented on the balance sheet as net pension liabilities of £52,090,000  
(2006: £65,171,000).

 The post-retirement deficit under FRS 17 moved over the period as follows:

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Post-retirement deficit at the beginning of the year  
Current service cost 
Curtailment gain  

(93,101)  
(8,426)  

5,119 

(105,671) 
(8,543) 

- 

Contributions including those of employees 
Other net finance income    
Actuarial gain

13,700  
1,982  
8,379 

13,448 
859  

6,806

Post-retirement deficit at the end of the year (72,347) (93,101) 

 The following amounts have been included within operating profit under FRS 17:    

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Current service cost 
Curtailment gain  
Employee contributions

Total operating charge    

8,426  
(5,119)  
(1,200) 

2,107 

8,543 
- 

(2,400) 

6,143 

 The following amounts have been included as net finance income under FRS 17:   

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Expected return on pension scheme assets 
Interest on post-retirement liabilities 

Net return to credit to finance income

23,505  
(21,523) 

1,982 

20,317 
(19,458) 

859 
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31 Pension commitments (continued)
 The following amounts have been recognised within the statement of total recognised gains and losses  

(STRGL) under FRS 17:

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets 
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities 
Gain/(loss) due to changes in assumptions underlying the value of  
scheme liabilities

Actuarial gain recognised in the STRGL (before deferred tax) 

(3,190)  
152  

 
11,417 

8,379 

8,668 
(1,090) 

 
(772) 

6,806

 The history of experience gains and losses is:      

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Actual return less expected return on 
scheme assets £000

Percentage of scheme assets 

Experience gains (and losses) arising on 
schemes’ liabilities £000

Percentage of the value of the  
schemes’ liabilities 

Total amount recognised in the  
STRGL £000

Percentage of the value of the  
schemes’ liabilities 

 
(3,190) 

(0.99%)

 
152 

 
0.04%

8,379  

 
2.12%

 
8,668

2.54%

 
(1,090) 

 
(0.25%)

6,806  

 
10.44%

 
32,793 

10.61%

 
(1,432) 

 
(0.35%)

(28,605) 
 

 
(6.90%)

 
7,110 

2.78%

  
200 

 
0.06%

(13,553)  

 
(4.02%)

15,467 

6.82%

 
4,810 

 
1.60%

421 
 

 
0.14%

 The above percentages show the STRGL components as a percentage of the end-of-year schemes’ asset or 
liability value, as appropriate.     

 All defined-benefit schemes are closed to new entrants and substantially closed to future benefit accrual. For 
members who continue to accrue benefits, under the method used to calculate pension costs in accordance 
with FRS 17, the cost as a percentage of covered pensionable payroll, before deduction of employee 
contributions, will tend to increase as the average age of the membership increases.   

 The effect of retirement benefits on operating profit calculated in accordance with FRS 17 as set out in the 
financial statements is as follows:         

2007 
£000

2006 
£000

Funded defined-benefit schemes

Defined-contribution schemes

Charge per note 7b

7,288 

5,505 

12,793 

6,107

3,030

9,137

Notes to the financial statements  |  for the year ended 31 December 2007



52

Halcrow Holdings Limited | Annual report and accounts 2007

32 Assets pledged       
 The group has granted fixed and floating charges over all its assets as security for banking facilities. 

33 Related party transactions
 Joint ventures 

There were no transactions with, or amounts due to or by, Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting 
Corporation Limited at 31 December 2007 (2006: nil).       

 Associated undertakings 
There were no significant transactions with Davy British Rail International Limited during the year.  
There was an interest-free loan of £184,000 owed to Davy British Rail International Limited at  
31 December 2007 (2006: £184,000).  

 The Halcrow Trust 
An amount of £4,966,000 was owed by the group to the Halcrow Trust at 31 December 2007 (2006: £3,195,000). 
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34 Principal subsidiary and associated undertakings and joint ventures
Subsidiary undertakings   Percentage owned

Halcrow Group Limited * 
Halcrow Canada Inc*      
Halcrow Consulting Limited     
Halcrow Asia Partnership Limited*     
Halcrow Asia Limited*      
Halcrow China Limited*      
Halcrow International Limited*     
Halcrow International Partnership*     
Halcrow Group Ireland Limited*     
Halcrow Management Sciences Limited*    
Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited*     
Halcrow Rural Management Limited*    
HPA Inc*      
Sir William Halcrow & Partners Inc*    
Sir William Halcrow & Partners (Malaysia) Limited*   
Yolles Partnership Inc*      
Yolles Partnership Limited*     
Burderop Investments Limited 
Halcrow Water Services Limited*

Joint ventures      
Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting Corporation Limited* 
Halcrow Barry Limited*    

Associated undertaking    
Davy British Rail International Limited*   

All holdings are of ordinary shares. 
* indicates that the shares are held by an intermediate holding company.

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100%

Percentage owned 
50% 
50%

  
40%

 

All these undertakings are registered in England except:

Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited   
Halcrow China Limited     
Sir William Halcrow & Partners Inc     
Halcrow Canada Inc     
HPA Inc     
Yolles Partnership Inc      
Pyramid Development International Corporation Limited  
Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting Corporation Limited 
Halcrow Group Ireland Limited 
Halcrow Barry Limited

Country of registration

Australia 
Hong Kong 

USA 
Canada 

USA 
Canada 

Thailand 
China 

Republic of Ireland 
Republic of Ireland
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34 Principal subsidiary and associated undertakings and joint ventures (continued)

 The principal country of operation of all these undertakings is Great Britain, except the following undertakings 
which operate in the areas indicated: 

Halcrow Asia Partnership Limited 
Halcrow Asia Limited 
Halcrow International Partnership 
Halcrow Group Ireland Limited 
Halcrow Barry Limited 
Halcrow Pacific Pty Limited 
Halcrow Rural Management Limited  
Sir William Halcrow & Partners Inc 
HPA Inc 
Sir William Halcrow & Partners (Malaysia) Limited 
Halcrow China Limited 
Pyramid Development International Corporation Limited 
Halcrow (Shanghai) Engineering Consulting Corporation Limited

East Asia 
East Asia 

Middle East 
Republic of Ireland 
Republic of Ireland 

Australia 
Worldwide 

USA 
USA 

East Asia 
East Asia 
East Asia 
East Asia

 The principal activity of all the above undertakings is the supply of services as consulting engineers, except for 
Burderop Investments Limited whose principal activity is property investment.     
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Registered office 
Vineyard House 
44 Brook Green 
Hammersmith 
London W6 7BY 
tel +44 (0)20 7602 7282 
fax +44 (0)20 7603 0095 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Share registrar 
Capita Registrars 
Northern House 
Woodsome Park 
Fenay Bridge 
Huddersfield 
HD8 0LA 
tel 0870 162 3131 
www.capitaregistrars.com

Argentina 
Buenos Aires 
Sergio Sour 
tel +54 11 4311 4911 
fax +54 11 4312 5819 
email halcrowba@halcrow.com

Australia 
Melbourne 
Bill Austin 
tel +61 3 9899 9777 
fax +61 3 9899 1214 
email austinmw@halcrow.com.au or sydney@
halcrow.com

Sydney 
Chris Adams 
tel +61 2 9250 9900 
fax +61 2 9241 2228 
email adamscg@halcrow.com.au

Bahrain 
David Aldis 
tel +973 178 77829  
fax +973 178 77849 
email aldisdg@halcrow.com or halcrow@
batelco.com.bh

Bangladesh 
Dhaka 
Ghulam Mustafa 
tel +880 2 882 1877 or 988 2625 
fax +880 2 882 3663 
email halcrow@halcrowbd.com

Belize 
Belmopan City 
Ian Cooper 
tel +501 822 1362 
fax +501 822 2001 
email cooperi@halcrow.com

Brazil 
Rio de Janeiro 
Augusto Guimaraes 
tel +55 21 2240 2700 
fax +55 21 2240 2700 ext 201 
email halcrowbrasil@halcrow.com

Canada 
Toronto 
Cathy Spark 
tel +1 416 363 8123 
fax +1 416 363 0341 
email cathy.spark@halcrowyolles.com

Vancouver 
Jim Chim 
tel +1 604 293 2882 ext 111 
fax +1 604 293 2892 
email jim.chim@halcrow.com

Chile 
Santiago 
Alejandro Labbe  
tel +56 2 658 5094 
fax +56 2 658 5095 
email labbeaa@halcrow.com

China 
Beijing 
Cathy Hu 
tel +86 10 8288 8540 
fax +86 10 8288 8541 
email hucq@halcrow.com

Hong Kong SAR 
Yi Yang 
tel +86 21 6319 0808 
fax +86 21 6319 0809 
email yangy@halcrow.com

Shanghai  
Victor Cheung 
tel +86 21 6319 0808 
fax +86 21 6319 0809 
email cheungvw@halcrow.com

Shenzhen 
Victor Cheung 
tel +86 755 8297 9070 
fax +86 755 8338 2696 
email cheungvw@halcrow.com

Hungary 
Budapest 
János Fehér 
tel +361 216 5811 
fax +361 215 2245 
email feher.janos@vituki-consult.hu

India 
New Delhi 
Pradeep Jain 
tel +91 11 4650 1500 
fax +91 11 4650 1599 
email hcil@halcrow.com

Ireland 
Dublin 
Sam McCurdy 
tel +353 1 403 3600 
fax +353 1 459 4357 
email mccurdys@halcrow.com

Latvia 
Riga 
Valdis Vitolins 
tel +371 732 0234 
fax +371 732 0235 
email hb@halcrow.com

Libya 
Tripoli 
Giuma Ben Mahmoud 
tel +218 21 444 1322 
fax +218 213 332 172 
email halcrow@lttnet.net

Malaysia 
Kuala Lumpur 
Norzalina Sulaiman 
tel +60 3 6201 5402 
fax +60 3 6201 4406 
email halcrowkl@halcrow.com

Nepal 
Kathmandu 
Madan Shrestha 
tel +977 1 435 0509 
fax +977 1 435 0509 
email nepal@halcrow.wlink.com.np

Pakistan 
Islamabad 
Abbas Hassan 
tel +92 51 220 3451 
fax +92 51 220 3462 
email isb@halcrowpk.com.pk

Philippines 
Makati City 
Michael Yaxley 
tel +63 2 819 5231 
fax +63 2 750 0468 
email halcrow@halcrow.com.ph

Poland 
Warsaw 
Jarek Karpiejuk 
tel +48 22 630 8379  
fax +48 22 625 4211 
email warsaw.office@halcrow.com

Qatar 
Doha 
Stewart Hay 
tel +974 4420 507 
fax +974 4421 898 
email hays@halcrow.com or halcrow@qatar.
net.qa

Romania 
Bucharest 
George Pana 
tel +40 21 211 1871 
fax +40 21 210 3013 
email panag@halcrow.com

Russia 
St Petersburg 
David Edwards 
tel +7 812 332 1378 
fax +7 812 332 1377 
email edwardsd@halcrow.com

South Korea 
Seoul 
Andrea Choi 
tel +82 2 779 5437 
fax +82 2 779 5439 
email choia@halcrow.com

Saint Lucia 
Castries 
Mandish Singh 
tel +1 758 452 1112 
fax +1 758 453 1454 
email halcrows@candw.lc

Syria 
Jim Fyvie 
tel +971 4 3140 249 
fax +971 4 337 9239 
email fyviejd@halcrow.com

Thailand 
Bangkok 
Ali Adam 
tel +66 (0)2 676 3830 
fax +66 (0)2 676 3832 
email adamas@halcrow.com

United Arab Emirates 
Sami Al-Qazzaz 
Ian McLennan 
tel +971 2 679 0804 
fax +971 2 678 5422 
email hme-abudhabi@halcrow.com
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Dubai 
David Yaw 
tel +971 4 337 0380  
fax +971 4 337 9239  
email hme-dubai@halcrow.com

Sharjah 
John Farrer 
tel +971 6 573 4333 
fax +971 6 573 2999  
email farrerj@halcrow.com or  
hme-sharjah@halcrow.com

United Kingdom 
Birmingham 
Peter Robery 
tel +44 (0)121 456 2345 
fax +44 (0)121 456 1569 
email birmingham@halcrow.com

Bristol 
Chris Kearns 
tel +44 (0)117 938 9300 
fax +44 (0)117 938 9315 
email bristol@halcrow.com

Cardiff 
Barrie Jones 
tel +44 (0)29 2072 0920 
fax +44 (0)29 2072 0880 
email cardiff@halcrow.com

Chichester 
Rachel Fowler 
tel +44 (0)1243 649 900 
fax +44 (0)1243 538 105 
email fowlerre@halcrow.com

Crawley 
Catherine Merlane 
tel +44 (0)1293 434 500 
fax +44 (0)1293 434 599 
email merlanecn@halcrow.com

Derby 
Lesley Dhindsa 
tel +44 (0)1332 222 620 
fax +44 (0)1332 222 621 
email dhindsal1@halcrow.com

Edinburgh 
Ron Beard 
tel +44 (0)131 272 3300 
fax +44 (0)131 272 3301 
email beardra@halcrow.com

Exeter 
Sarah Dawe 
tel +44 (0)1392 444 252 
fax +44 (0)1392 444 301 
email exeter@halcrow.com

Glasgow 
Donald Bell 
tel +44 (0)141 552 2000 
fax +44 (0)141 552 2525 
email glasgow@halcrow.com

Handforth 
John Daly 
tel +44 (0)1625 540 456 
fax +44 (0)1625 549 325 
email dalyj@halcrow.com

Inverness  
John Walker 
tel +44 (0)1463 231 707 
fax +44 (0)1463 243 726 
email inverness@halcrow.com

Leeds 
Sharon Watt 
tel +44 (0)113 220 8220 
fax +44 (0)113 274 2924 
email leeds@halcrow.com

London  
Matthew Wernham 
Vineyard House 
tel +44 (0)20 7602 7282 
fax +44 (0)20 7603 0095 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Vanessa Constable 
Shortlands 
tel +44 (0)20 8233 3800 
fax +44 (0)20 8233 3801 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Newcastle and Gateshead 
Tom Brown 
tel +44 (0)191 487 3555 
fax +44 (0)191 487 5818 
email tyne&wear@halcrow.com

Norwich 
Kevin Marsh 
tel +44 (0)1603 226 161 
fax +44 (0)1603 631 505 
email halcrow@edmund-nuttall.co.uk

Peterborough 
Gareth Heatley 
tel +44 (0)1733 560 03 
fax +44 (0)1733 427 988 
email peterborough@halcrow.com

Plymouth 
Steve Burge 
tel +44 (0)1752 502 980 
fax +44 (0)1752 502 989 
email plymouth@halcrow.com

Reading 
Paul Grant 
tel +44 (0)118 965 0100 
fax +44 (0)118 957 6918 
email surveyreading@halcrow.com

Snodland 
Catherine Merlane 
tel +44 (0)1634 244 114 
fax +44 (0)1634 244 388 
email info@halcrowws.com

Stockton-on-Tees 
John Nicholas 
tel +44 (0)1642 632 800 
fax +44 (0)1642 632 801 
email teesvalley@halcrow.com or halcrow@
teesside.com

Swindon 
Garry Whitaker 
tel +44 (0)1793 812 479 
fax +44 (0)1793 812 089 
email halcrow@halcrow.com

Waltham Cross 
Roland Grzybek 
tel +44 (0)1992 707 100 
fax +44 (0)1992 760 594 
email walthamcross@halcrow.com

Worcester 
Chris Kearns 
tel +44 (0)1905 361 361 
fax +44 (0)1905 361 362 
email worcester@halcrow.com

York 
Carol Snowden  
Lendal 
tel +44 (0)1904 559 900 
fax +44 (0)1904 559 901 
email snowdenc@halcrow.com

Carol Snowden  
Museum Street 
tel +44 (0)1904 559 900 
fax +44 (0)1904 613 998 
email snowdenc@halcrow.com

United States of America 
Houston 
Michael Praught 
tel +1 832 242 3816 
fax +1 832 242 3818 
email mpraught@han-padron.com

Jacksonville 
Paul Starr 
tel +1 904 733 3180 
fax +1 904 733 3343 
email pstarr@hpa.com

Las Vegas 
Stephan Kordt 
tel +1 702 253 6617 
fax +1 702 253 0031 
email stephan.kordt@halcrowyolles.com

Long Beach 
Ken Forssen 
tel +1 562 493 8300 
fax +1 562 493 8308 
email kenforssen@han-padron.com

New York 
Helga Junold 
tel +1 212 608 4963 
fax +1 212 566 5059 
email junoldh@halcrow.com

Jonathan Goldstick 
tel +1 212 608 3990 
fax +1 212 566 5059 
email jgoldstick@hpa.com

Oakland 
Gayle Johnson 
tel +1 510 452 0040 
fax +1 510 452 0041 
email gjohnson@han-padron.com

Tampa 
Tod Stockberger 
tel +1 813 876 6800 
fax +1 813 876 6700 
email tstockberger@hpa.com

Washington 
Bob Ulrich 
tel +1 703 351 5025 
fax +1 703 312 7068 
email ulrichr@halcrow.com

Venezuela 
Caracas 
Paul Nixon 
tel +58 212 266 5322 
fax +58 212 267 5827 
email venezuela@halcrow.com

Vietnam 
Hanoi City 
Tuyet Bach Cao  
tel +84 4 942 6680 
fax +84 4 942 6681 
email halcrow@fpt.vn
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